THESIS

EFFECTS OF NEAR-SOURCE COAGULATION OF BIOMASS BURNING AEROSOLS ON GLOBAL PREDICTIONS OF AEROSOL SIZE DISTRIBUTIONS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR AEROSOL RADIATIVE EFFECTS

Submitted by Emily Ramnarine Department of Atmospheric Science

In partial fulfillment of the requirements For the Degree of Master of Science Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado Fall 2018

Master's Committee:

Advisor: Jeffrey Pierce

Sonia Kreidenweis Shantanu Jathar Copyright by Emily Ramnarine 2018

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

EFFECTS OF NEAR-SOURCE COAGULATION OF BIOMASS BURNING AEROSOLS ON GLOBAL PREDICTIONS OF AEROSOL SIZE DISTRIBUTIONS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR AEROSOL RADIATIVE EFFECTS

Biomass burning is a significant global source of aerosol number and mass. In fresh biomass burning plumes, aerosol coagulation reduces aerosol number and increases the median size of aerosol size distributions, impacting aerosol radiative effects. Near-source biomass burning aerosol coagulation occurs at spatial scales much smaller than the grid boxes of global and many regional models. To date, these models ignore sub-grid coagulation and instantly mix fresh biomass burning emissions into coarse grid boxes. A previous study found that the rate of particle growth by coagulation within an individual smoke plume can be approximated using the aerosol mass emissions rate, initial size distribution median diameter and modal width, plume mixing depth, and wind speed. In this thesis, we use this parameterization of sub-grid coagulation in the GEOS-Chem-TOMAS global aerosol microphysics model to quantify the impacts on global aerosol size distributions, the direct radiative effect, and the cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect.

We find that inclusion of biomass burning sub-grid coagulation reduces the biomass burning impact on the number concentration of particles larger than 80 nm (a proxy for CCN-sized particles) by 37% globally. This CCN reduction causes our estimated global biomass burning cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect to decrease from -76 to -43 mW m⁻². Further, as sub-grid coagulation moves mass to sizes with more efficient scattering, including it increases our estimated biomass burning all-sky direct effect from -224 to -231 mW m⁻² with assumed external mixing and from -188 to -197 mW m⁻² with assumed internal mixing with core-shell morphology. However, due to differences in fire and meteorological conditions across regions, the impact of sub-grid coagulation is not globally uniform. We also test the sensitivity of the impact of sub-grid coagulation to two different biomass burning emission inventories, to various assumptions about the fresh biomass burning aerosol size distribution, and to two different timescales of sub-grid coagulation. The impacts of sub-grid coagulation are qualitatively the same regardless of these assumptions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A tremendous thanks to all of the people who have helped me along the way. Most notably, Jeff Pierce has been a supportive and passionate mentor and advisor. The rest of the Pierce research group has been incredibly helpful as well, both in discussion of work and in camaraderie: many thanks to Kate O'Dell, Will Lassman, Bonne Ford, Anna Hodshire, Ali Akherati, Emily Bian, and, most notably, Jack Kodros. This experience would not have been the same without the support of everyone in this department, from the fellow students who I came in with to the wonderful front office staff. Thanks also to Matt Alvarado, Chantelle Lonsdale, and Ben Brown-Steiner from Atmospheric and Environmental Research for their guidance and partnership on this project, and to Sonia Kreidenweis and Shantanu Jathar for their willingness to serve on my committee. Finally, thank you to the U.S. National Science Foundation, Atmospheric Chemistry Program and the U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, an Office of Science, Office of Atmospheric Chemistry, Carbon Cycle, and Climate Program for funding this research.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT .		ii		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS				
LIST OF TABLES				
LIST OF FIG	URES	vii		
Chapter 1	Introduction	1		
Chapter 2	Methods	4		
2.1	Model Overview	4		
2.2	Biomass-burning emissions size and sub-grid coagulation in GEOS-Chem-			
	TOMAS	5		
2.3	Modeling radiative impacts of changes made to biomass burning emissions	11		
Chapter 3	Results	12		
3.1	Impact of biomass burning on aerosol mass	12		
3.2	Ambient size distribution sensitivity to biomass burning	12		
3.3	Sensitivity of radiative effects	24		
Chapter 4	Discussion	34		
4.1	Limitations of this study	34		
4.2	Conclusions	38		
4.3	Future Work	40		
Bibliography		42		

LIST OF TABLES

2.1	Simulation names and descriptions of GEOS-Chem parameters which change depend- ing on the simulation	7
3.1	Global, annual-mean percent change due to biomass burning in the surface-level N10 and N80 and absolute changes in DRE and AIE due to biomass burning	17

LIST OF FIGURES

2.1	Demonstration of the effect of per-fire coagulation parameterization on all fires in the Western US on 8/15/2015	8
2.2	Annual-mean median diameter and modal width for biomass burning emissions pre- dicted for 2010 using sub-grid coagulation parameterization equations	10
3.1	Effect of biomass burning on annually averaged total column OA and BC mass con- centrations using GFED.	13
3.2	Effect of biomass burning on annually averaged total column OA and BC mass con- centrations using FINNv1	14
3.3	Effect of biomass burning on surface-level number concentration of particles larger than 10 nm and larger than 80nm using GEED	15
3.4	Effect of biomass burning on surface-level number concentration of particles larger than 10 nm and larger than 80nm using FINNv1.	15
3.5	Annual-average percent changes in N80 at the surface level due to the inclusion of GEED biomass burning emissions relative to the simulation without biomass burning	10
3.6	Annual-average percent changes in N80 at the surface level due to the inclusion of	19
3.7	FINNv1 biomass burning emissions relative to the simulation without biomass burning. Predicted, grid-resolved surface-level aerosol size distributions with GFED biomass	20
3.8	burning emissions for the fire season over Alaska and the Amazon	22
3.9	burning emissions for the fire season over Alaska and the Amazon	23
2 1 0	albedo aerosol indirect effect due to biomass burning (AIE) for all sensitivity simula- tions with and without sub-grid coagulation.	25
3.10	emissions and the external-mixing assumption.	26
3.11	All-sky direct radiative effect (DRE) due to biomass burning aerosols using FINNv1 emissions and using the external-mixing assumption.	27
3.12	All-sky direct radiative effect (DRE) due to biomass burning aerosols using GFED emissions and the internal, core-shell mixing assumption.	28
3.13	All-sky direct radiative effect (DRE) due to biomass burning aerosols using FINNv1 emissions and using the core-shell mixing assumption	29
3.14	Cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect (AIE) due to biomass burning aerosols using	27
3.15	Cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect (AIE) due to biomass burning aerosols using FINNv1 emissions.	32 33
4.1	Effect of biomass burning on surface-level N10 and N80 under three sub-grid coagu- lation conditions	25
4.2	Annual-average percent changes in N80 at the surface level for three different timescales of sub-grid coagulation	37
		51

4.3	All-sky direct radiative effect due to biomass burning aerosols under the external-	
	mixing assumption for three different timescales of sub-grid coagulation	37
4.4	All-sky direct radiative effect due to biomass burning aerosols under the core-shell	
	mixing assumption for three different timescales of sub-grid coagulation	37
4.5	Cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect due to biomass burning aerosols for three different	
	timescales of sub-grid coagulation	38

Chapter 1

Introduction

Atmospheric aerosol particles, including those from biomass burning, impact the climate system directly by scattering and absorbing radiation and indirectly by influencing cloud properties [1–11]. In this thesis, biomass burning includes wildfires, prescribed burns, and agricultural burning, but not residential or industrial biofuel use. Emissions from biomass burning include organic aerosol (OA), black carbon (BC), and inorganic particles, as well as aerosol precursor vapors such as sulfur dioxide and volatile organic compounds (e.g., [12]). The largest biomass burning emissions occur over tropical Africa, South America, and Southeast Asia, but substantial emissions also occur in temperate and boreal forests [3, 13, 14]. Biomass burning smoke concentrations are spatially and temporally heterogeneous throughout most regions [3, 15], and biomass burning aerosol may be transported thousands of kilometers downwind, potentially affecting areas far from the emitting fires (e.g., [16]). Bond et al. (2013) estimated that biomass burning makes up 66% of primary OA mass emissions and 37% of BC mass emissions, globally [3].

Aerosol emissions from biomass burning impact climate in a variety of ways. In the direct radiative effect (DRE), scattering and absorption of shortwave radiation by biomass burning particles leads to an increase or decrease in planetary albedo, respectively, resulting in a negative (cooling tendency) or positive (warming tendency) radiative effect, respectively. OA from biomass burning plumes predominantly scatters solar radiation, while BC predominantly absorbs [3]. The efficiency of this scattering and absorption depends on the size and mixing state of the particle [2,5,17,18]. In the cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect (AIE), aerosols acting as cloud condensation nuclei (CCN) lead to an increase in cloud droplet number concentration (CDNC) and the shortwave albedo of clouds [10]. The ability of an aerosol to act as a CCN depends on its concentration, size, and solubility [19]. As biomass burning plumes age, the aerosol size distribution evolves due to coagulation, condensation, and evaporation [4, 20, 21]; and this evolution impacts the aerosol radiative effects [1, 8, 9]. In this thesis, we focus on coagulation in biomass burning plumes. Coagulation is the aggregation of particles upon collision, combining two particles into one larger particle. The rate of coagulation depends on particle size and concentration, and is fastest when there is a high concentration of particles and a large spread in the sizes of those particles [17]. The coagulation rate is proportional to the square of the particle number concentration for fixed particle sizes, and hence is strongly dependent on the number concentration [17]. As coagulation occurs, there is a reduction in the number concentration [17]. As biomass burning plumes generally have spatial scales much smaller than the width of global and regional model grid boxes, these models cannot explicitly resolve smoke plumes. Biomass burning particles are thus instantly mixed throughout the gridbox volume upon emission. This instantaneous mixing in the grid boxes dilutes the concentration of particles and likely causes an underprediction of coagulation rates, leading to an overprediction of biomass burning number concentrations and errors in the size distribution of these particles [22].

The impact of coagulation on the size distribution of aerosols in biomass burning smoke plumes was explored by Sakamoto et al. (2016), where they developed a physically intuitive coagulation parameterization for individual smoke plumes [21]. To develop this parameterization, Sakamoto et al. (2016) simulated individual smoke plumes using a large-eddy simulation model with size-sectional aerosol coagulation and no other aerosol processes [21]. The simulated data from these model runs was used to fit equations for changing median diameter and modal width with plume aging. These equations show that the rate of coagulation of a single fire plume can be approximated using the mass emissions rate of biomass burning aerosol (the product of emissions flux and fire area), initial size distribution (median diameter and modal width), plume mixing depth, and wind speed. Intuitively, more-concentrated emissions, larger area fires, smaller wind speed, or smaller mixing depth lead to an increased rate of coagulation. This increased rate of coagulation is represented by a larger median diameter and smaller modal width for equivalently aged smoke.

Sakamoto et al. (2016) further showed that the parameterization is more skillful at predicting measured aged median diameter and modal width values than assuming constant values [21].

In this thesis, we use a global aerosol microphysics model to explore how sub-grid coagulation of biomass burning emissions impacts global aerosol size distributions, the DRE, and the cloudalbedo AIE. We also quantify the sensitivity of biomass burning radiative effects to changing the mixing-state assumption, initial aerosol size distribution, biomass burning emissions inventory, and the timescale of the sub-grid coagulation. Chapter 2 describes our methods. Chapter 3 presents the results of our model simulations and includes a discussion of changes to the size distribution globally, details on changes to the size distribution in two representative locations, an analysis of the changes to the radiative effects under the conditions of our sensitivity studies, and a consideration of limitations of this study. Our conclusions are summarized in Chapter 4.

Chapter 2

Methods

2.1 Model Overview

We use the global chemical-transport model GEOS-Chem version 10.01

(http://acmg.seas.harvard.edu/geos/) with $4^{\circ} \times 5^{\circ}$ horizontal resolution and 47 vertical levels. Our simulations use Goddard Earth Observing System model version 5 (GEOS5) meteorological reanalysis fields. Because the meteorology is offline, changes to aerosol concentrations do not feedback to affect meteorology, and so all cases here have identical meteorology. Our simulations use meteorology for the year 2010 with one month of spin-up not used in analysis. GEOS-Chem is coupled with the TwO-Moment Aerosol Sectional (TOMAS) microphysics model [7,23,24]. This version of TOMAS has 15 size sections corresponding to dry particle diameters ranging from approximately 3 nm to 10 μ m, and includes tracers for sulfate, sea salt, OA, BC, dust, ammonia and particle-phase water. OA mass is assumed to be 1.8 times that of organic carbon as a central value from Philip et al. (2014) [25]. TOMAS explicitly simulates both aerosol number and mass within each size section. Detailed descriptions of microphysical processes in TOMAS are described in Adams and Seinfeld (2002), Lee and Adams (2012), and Lee et al. (2013) [23,26,27].

We test model simulations with biomass burning emissions from the Global Fire Emissions Database version 4 (GFED; [13]) and the Fire INventory from NCAR (FINN; [14]). GFED has a resolution of $0.25^{\circ} \times 0.25^{\circ}$ spatial resolution and daily temporal resolution. It uses an adapted terrestrial carbon cycle model (Carnegie-Ames-Stanford Approach; CASA model) to estimate fuel combustion per unit area. CASA uses MODIS vegetation and land cover products, ERA-interim meteorology, and ERA-interim soil moisture as inputs. The CASA-estimated fuel combustion per unit area is combined with the MODIS burned area product and emission factors from Akagi et al. (2011) to calculate emissions [13]. FINN uses the MODIS thermal anomaly product to detect daily fire emissions with a resolution of one square kilometer, and uses the MODIS vegetation product for land cover to determine fuel loading and fraction of biomass burned. In FINN version 1.5 (FINNv1.5), these estimates of mass of biomass burned are converted into mass emissions of a variety of species for each fire using emission factors [14]. The use of FINNv1.5 in this study is discussed further in Section 2.2. In FINN version 1 used in GEOS-Chem (FINNv1), the emissions of carbon dioxide from each individual fire has been gridded to $0.25^{\circ} \times 0.25^{\circ}$ spatial resolution and other emissions are determined using emission ratios (relative to carbon dioxide) based on vegetation type [14].

Because GFED and FINN are derived differently, their subsequent emission fields are also different. FINN, being based on active fires and intended for near-real-time use, may be better at capturing variability in regions with many small fires, but does not take into account variability in fuel consumption or fire area at the sub-biome scale [14, 28]. Both GFED and FINN are derived from satellite products, which may lead to missing emissions from very small fires [29]. In studies comparing multiple fire emission inventories that include GFED and FINN, FINN tends to be an outlier in that it does not have a statistically significant cross-correlation (spatial and temporal) with most other inventories, while all other inventories are significantly correlated with each other [30, 31]. Hence, we choose to use GFED fire emissions as the default in this paper. For completeness, we include figures using the FINN emissions in the supplement.

2.2 Biomass-burning emissions size and sub-grid coagulation in GEOS-Chem-TOMAS

Table 2.1 provides and overview of the simulations performed in this study and that will be referenced in this section. Fresh biomass burning aerosol emission sizes can generally be simplified to a lognormal mode, but the parameters of this mode vary with fire characteristics [32]. This emitted lognormal mode is not specified in either of the emission inventories used. In GEOS-Chem-TOMAS, the default biomass burning emissions have an emitted number median diameter of 100 nm and modal width of 2. Janhäll et al. (2010) provides a review of measurements of fresh and aged smoke, and these default values already in use in GEOS-Chem-TOMAS are on the

small end of the median diameters, which range from 100 nm to 141 nm, and the large end of modal widths, which range from 1.5 to 1.91, of the fresh plumes studied [32]. To address uncertainty in emitted aerosol size distributions, we include sensitivity simulations varying the initial emission median diameter and modal width of the biomass burning aerosol (see Table 2.1). One set of simulations increases the emitted median diameter from 100 nm (*noSubCoag*) to 150 nm (*D150_noSubCoag*) with a constant a modal width of 2. The second set of simulations decreases the emitted modal width from 2 to 1.6 (*s1.6_noSubCoag*, where the 's' represents 'sigma' for modal width) with a constant median diameter of 100 nm. Each of these simulations has a counterpart with sub-grid coagulation included (*SubCoag*, *D150_SubCoag*, and *s1.6_SubCoag*, respectively). These simulations are all run with GFED emissions (as that is the default), but there are corresponding simulations with FINN emissions (*noSubCoag_FINN*, *D150_noSubCoag_FINN*, *s1.6_noSubCoag_FINN*, *D150_subCoag_FINN*, and *s1.6_SubCoag_FINN*). We compare these simulations to a model simulation with no biomass burning emissions of particles or gases (*noBB*). By choosing this variety of simulations, we represent a range of fresh biomass burning plume emission size distributions.

To represent the evolution of the aerosol size distribution due to in-plume sub-grid coagulation in the *SubCoag* simulations, we use the parameterization developed in Sakamoto et al. (2016) [21]. The parameterization is for individual, non-overlapping plumes:

$$D_{pm} = D_{pm0} + 84.56 \left[\frac{EmissionsRate}{(WindSpeed)(MixingDepth)} \right]^{0.4191} (Time)^{0.4870}, \qquad (2.1)$$

$$\sigma = \sigma_0 + 0.2390 \left[\frac{EmissionsRate}{(WindSpeed)(MixingDepth)} \right]^{0.1889} (Time)^{0.3540} (1.2 - \sigma_0), \qquad (2.2)$$

where D_{pm} is the median diameter after in-plume coagulation (nm), D_{pm0} is the initial number median diameter before in-plume coagulation (nm), σ is the modal width after in-plume coagulation, and σ_0 is the initial modal width before in-plume coagulation. *Time* is the amount of time spent undergoing in-plume coagulation (min). *EmissionsRate* is the mass emissions rate of primary **Table 2.1:** Simulation names and descriptions of GEOS-Chem parameters which change depending on the simulation. In the naming, '*SubCoag*' refers to the inclusion of sub-grid coagulation and '*noSubCoag*' indicates the exclusion of sub-grid coagulation. The default size distribution has an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. '*D150*' in the name indicates that the median diameter is increased to 150 nm. '*s1.6*' indicates that the modal width is decreased to 1.6 (with the 's' coming from 'sigma'). The default biomass burning emissions inventory is GFED, and simulations using FINNv1 instead include '*FINN*' in their names. The default amount of time spent undergoing sub-grid coagulation is 24 hours and the simulation with only 12 hours spent aging has a '*_12h*' suffix.

				Time spent
	Biomass			undergoing
	burning	Emitted number		sub-grid
	emissions	median diameter	Emitted number	coagulation
Simulation	inventory	$(D_{pm0}; nm)$	modal width (σ_0)	(Time; hours)
noBB	none	_	_	_
noSubCoag	GFED	100	2	0
SubCoag	GFED	100	2	24
SubCoag_12h	GFED	100	2	12
D150_noSubCoag	GFED	150	2	0
D150_SubCoag	GFED	150	2	24
s1.6_noSubCoag	GFED	100	1.6	0
s1.6_SubCoag	GFED	100	1.6	24
noSubCoag_FINN	FINNv1	100	2	0
SubCoag_FINN	FINNv1	100	2	24
D150_noSubCoag_FINN	FINNv1	150	2	0
D150_SubCoag_FINN	FINNv1	150	2	24
s1.6_noSubCoag_FINN	FINNv1	100	1.6	0
s1.6_SubCoag_FINN	FINNv1	100	1.6	24

aerosol from a fire (kg min⁻¹), which is OA and BC emissions in our simulations, as it was in Sakamoto et al. (2016). *WindSpeed* and *MixingDepth* are the meteorological wind speed (m min⁻¹) and the depth that the smoke plume mixes through (m), respectively. Figure 2.1 shows that when the sub-grid coagulation parameterization (Eqs. (2.1) and (2.2)) is used offline the downwind median diameter is larger than the emitted median diameter and the downwind modal width is smaller than the emitted modal width. This change is larger for fires with higher emission rates, but there is some variability because local meteorology also plays a role.



Fires in the Western US on 8/15/2015

Figure 2.1: Demonstration of the effect of per-fire coagulation parameterization on all the fires in the Western US on 8/15/2015 from FINNv1.5. The emissions of OA and BC are indicated in the color in (a) and in the size of the markers in (b) and (c). In (a) the size indicated the area of the fire. In (b) and (c) the color indicates the median diameter and modal width, respectively, after 24 hours of coagulation where the emitted median diameter is 100 nm and the emitted modal width is 2.

The parameterization is included in GEOS-Chem with some limitations. As GEOS-Chem currently emits all biomass burning emissions into the boundary layer, mixing depth is approximated by the planetary boundary layer depth, a meteorology field. As better data on injection heights and mixing depth are developed and/or included into GEOS-Chem they may be coupled into our use of the parameterization. We acknowledge that keeping all emissions in the boundary layer is a limitation of this study [33]; however, Rémy et al. (2003) found that most injection heights are within the planetary boundary layer [34]. In our simulations, the minimum mixing depth was 10 m, the minimum wind speed was 2 m min⁻¹, and the minimum emissions rate was 1 kg min⁻¹. These minimums are defined to avoid getting unrealistic values out of the parameterization. We use the 10 m wind speed. We chose to age the plume for 24 hours as that is approximately the time it takes for air to cross a $4^{\circ} \times 5^{\circ}$ gridbox in the boundary layer, assuming that the plume started at one edge and dilutes all the way across. In reality, the fire could start anywhere within the grid box, and we acknowledge that this choice of timescale is somewhat arbitrary, but the roughly square-root dependence of the size distribution on time means the parameterization is only weakly sensitive to the choice of timescale. To test the sensitivity to this 24-hour assumption we include an additional simulation (*SubCoag_12h*) where conditions are similar to *SubCoag* but with 12 hours instead of 24 hours of aging.

To implement the sub-grid coagulation parameterization into GEOS-Chem-TOMAS, we take the number of fires per gridbox from FINNv1.5 into GEOS-Chem via the Harvard-NASA Emissions Component (HEMCO), regardless of whether FINNv1 or GFED is used for fire emissions. When using the Sakamoto parameterization in GEOS-Chem-TOMAS, all fires within a single gridbox are treated as the same in that the emissions are distributed evenly, leading to the same D_{pm} and σ for all fires in that gridbox. In doing so, we assume that there is no overlap of the fire plumes (a shortcoming that we will discuss later). This single lognormal mode is applied to the gridbox to determine how BC and OC number and mass are distributed across sizes. In gridboxes where GFED or FINNv1 has fire emissions and FINNv1.5 does not have any fires, one fire is assumed. Figure 2.2 shows through offline calculations that using the Sakamoto parameterization in this way results in approximately the same result as using the Sakamoto parameterization for each individual fire and then averaging the resulting D_{pm} and σ over the 4° × 5° grid, justifying our method of applying this parameterization to a gridded model. Over the Sahara, the ice sheets, and the ocean there are no fires and therefore no effect of sub-grid coagulation.



Figure 2.2: Annual-mean median diameter (a and c) and modal width (b and d) for biomass burning emissions predicted for 2010 using the Sakamoto et al. (2016) parameterization after 24 hours of sub-grid coagulation with an emitted initial median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted initial modal width of 2. Panels (a) and (b) show the resulting D_{pm} and σ when the fire (FINNv1.5) and meteorological data is averaged over a 4° × 5° grid and then that gridded data is run through the Sakamoto et al. (2016) parameterization. Panels (c) and (d) show the results when the individual fires are run through the Sakamoto et al. (2016) parameterization and then the output D_{pm} and σ are averaged over a 4° × 5° grid. The regions with grey cross-hatching are grid-cells with no fire data.

2.3 Modeling radiative impacts of changes made to biomass burning emissions

To estimate the radiative impacts of these simulations, we use an offline version of the Rapid Radiative Transfer Model for Global Climate Models (RRTMG). Implementation of RRTMG with GEOS-Chem-TOMAS simulations is described in detail in Kodros et al. (2016) [6]. When estimating the DRE, we assume either a fully internal or an external mixing state. For the internal mixture, we assume a core-shell morphology where black carbon forms a spherical core and other species form a homogeneously mixed shell around that core, remaining spherical [35]. An external mixture assumes that organic carbon and black carbon remain separate, each forming their own set of spherical particles. These mixing-state assumptions are idealizations used here to provide bounds on the magnitude of the DRE where core-shell mixing (in which the shell acts as a lens to enhance the warming in the core) is the warmest forcing and external mixing is the coolest forcing. When estimating the AIE, we assume all aerosol species are mixed internally within each size bin to calculate κ (the hygroscopicity parameter; [19]) with the exception of fresh black carbon, which becomes internally mixed on a fixed e-folding timescale of 1.5 days [8]. The fresh black carbon is assumed to be externally mixed with a κ of zero and hence does not activate [8]. Details of the calculation of CDNC, cloud properties, and AIE are discussed in Kodros et al. (2016) [6]. The offline calculation of aerosol radiative effects described here uses monthly mean aerosol concentrations and meteorological inputs, which we note as a limitation of this study.

Chapter 3

Results

3.1 Impact of biomass burning on aerosol mass

Figure 3.1 shows the spatial distribution of the biomass burning impacts on annually averaged simulated OA and BC mass concentrations (the difference between the *noSubCoag* and *noBB* simulations, both defined in Table 2.1). Biomass burning makes up most of the column OA and BC mass in our simulations over areas with significant biomass burning emissions and/or few other sources. These regions include the Amazon in South America, the Congo in Africa, and some regions of the boreal forests in North America and Siberia. Biomass burning aerosol also accounts for most of the column OA and BC mass in remote areas downwind of biomass burning emissions, including most of the southern hemisphere. Figure 3.2 provides the same analysis as Figure 3.1 but for the FINNv1 emissions inventory. It shows that FINNv1 also has biomass burning accounting for a significant amount of OA and BC mass over major biomass burning areas and downwind. FINN has 52 Tg of OA+BC emissions over the course of the 2010 year, while GFED has 60 Tg of emissions. Because FINNv1 has a lower mass of emissions, the increase in OA and BC mass over major biomass burning regions and downwind are not as high as they are with GFED emissions.

3.2 Ambient size distribution sensitivity to biomass burning

Figure 3.3 shows the change in the spatial pattern of aerosol number concentration due to biomass burning for both the standard coagulation scheme without sub-grid coagulation (*noSub-Coag - noBB*) and the scheme with the sub-grid coagulation parameterization included (*SubCoag - noBB*). Shown are the changes in number concentrations for particles with diameters larger than 10 nm (N10) and particles with diameters larger than 80 nm (N80, a proxy for CCN-sized particles). The greatest increases in N10 and N80 (over a doubling in some areas) for both coagulation schemes occur over the regions with the largest biomass burning emissions: the Amazon, the



Figure 3.1: Effect of biomass burning on annually averaged total column OA and BC mass concentrations. The left side shows the total column mass concentration of (a) OA and (c) BC in the simulations with GFED biomass burning emissions (i.e., *noSubCoag*). The right side shows the percent of the mass in the column that is due to biomass burning emissions for (b) OA and (d) BC by taking the difference between the *noSubCoag* and *noBB* simulations.



Figure 3.2: Effect of biomass burning on annually averaged total column OA and BC mass concentrations. The left side shows the total column mass concentration of (a) OA and (c) BC in the simulations with FINNv1 biomass burning emissions (i.e., *noSubCoag_FINN*). The right side shows the percent of the mass in the column that is due to biomass burning emissions for (b) OA and (d) BC by taking the difference between the *noSubCoag_FINN* and *noBB* simulations.

Congo, Southeast Asia, and the boreal forests in North America and eastern Siberia. There are also increases downwind of these high-emission areas. Many regions, such as central Asia and the remote oceans, show decreases in particle number due to the inclusion of biomass burning. The increase in primary particle number in biomass burning source regions increases the condensation sink, which leads to a reduction in new-particle formation and growth and an increased coagulational loss of new particles, leading to lower number concentrations away from biomass burning regions. Similar remote-region number decreases were also seen when adding primary-particle sources in Kodros et al. (2015; 2016) [5, 6]. Figure 3.4 shows that FINNv1 emissions have a smaller percent increase in N10 and N80 over biomass burning areas than GFED emissions because FINNv1 emits less particle mass, as discussed in Section 3.1. Because of the lower emissions in FINN, there is also a smaller decrease downwind.



Figure 3.3: Effect of biomass burning on surface-level number concentration of particles larger than 10 nm (a, b, c) and 80 nm (d, e, f). Panels (a) and (d) show the absolute number concentration for the *noBB* simulation. Panels (b) and (e) show the percent increase due to GFED biomass burning emissions from the *noBB* simulation to the *noSubCoag* simulation. Panels (c) and (f) show the percent increase due to GFED biomass burning emissions from the *noBB* simulation. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean percent increase due to biomass burning.



Figure 3.4: Effect of biomass burning on surface-level number concentration of particles above 10 nm (panels (a), (b), and (c)) and 80 nm (panels (d), (e), (f)). Panels (a) and (d) show the absolute number concentration for the *noBB* simulation. Panels (b) and (e) show the percent increase due to FINNv1 biomass burning emissions from the *noBB* simulation to the *noSubCoag_FINN* simulation. Panels (c) and (f) show the percent increase due to FINNv1 biomass burning emissions from the *noBB* simulation to the *noSubCoag_FINN* simulation to the *SubCoag_FINN* simulation. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean percent increase due to biomass burning.

When including sub-grid coagulation (Figure 3.3, panels c and f), there are lower N10 concentrations over emissions areas due to the sub-grid coagulation as compared to the standard coagulation scheme without sub-grid coagulation (Figure 3.3, panels b and e), but the mass remains approximately the same (emissions mass is the same but scavenging may be different due to changes in particle sizes). Because of this, the global, annual-average percent increase in N10 due to biomass burning is reduced from 5.9% without sub-grid coagulation to 2.3% with sub-grid coagulation. Likewise, the global-, annual-average percent increase in N80 due to biomass burning is reduced from 14.5% without sub-grid coagulation to 9.2% with sub-grid coagulation. Because coagulation removes smaller particles more efficiently, the decrease in N10 is more dramatic than the decrease in N80. The same effect of sub-grid coagulation can be seen in the simulations with FINNv1 emissions in Figure 3.4, where global, annual-average percent increase in N10 due to biomass burning decreases from 6.0% without sub-grid coagulation to 3.1% with sub-grid coagulation and the increase in N80 due to biomass burning decreases from 10.4% to 8.0%. Table 3.1 shows an overview of how globally, annually averaged percent increase in N10 and N80 due to biomass burning changes between simulations.

			externally-mixed	core-shell	
	N10	N80	DRE	DRE	AIE
Compared Simulations	(%)	(%)	$(W m^{-2})$	$(W m^{-2})$	$(W m^{-2})$
noSubCoag - noBB	5.9	14.5	-224	-188	-76
SubCoag - noBB	2.3	9.2	-231	-197	-43
D150_noSubCoag - noBB	1.2	4.8	-222	-182	-29
D150_SubCoag - noBB	0.2	3.6	-253	-214	-16
s1.6_noSubCoag - noBB	19.4	43.0	-169	-145	-155
s1.6_SubCoag - noBB	4.6	15.2	-206	-177	-66
noSubCoag_FINN - noBB	6.0	10.4	-214	-93	-63
SubCoag_FINN - noBB	3.1	8.0	-128	-100	-52
D150_noSubCoag_FINN - noBB	2.0	3.4	-125	-91	-31
D150_SubCoag_FINN - noBB	1.1	3.2	-146	-113	-26
s1.6_noSubCoag_FINN - noBB	18.3	32.0	-82	-63	-112
s1.6_SubCoag_FINN - noBB	5.3	13.4	-105	-84	-73

Table 3.1: Global, annual-mean percent change due to biomass burning in the surface-level N10 and N80 and absolute changes in DRE and AIE due to biomass burning.

Figure 2.2 panels a and b show the annual-mean median diameter and modal width for biomass burning emissions that have been processed with Eqs. (2.1) and (2.2) for 24 hours offline. There is large spatial variability in the annual-mean effects of the sub-grid coagulation parameterization on the number median diameter and lognormal modal width. The increase in median diameter and decrease in modal width due to sub-grid coagulation is larger over the Amazon, the Congo, southeast Asia, and parts of the boreal forests in Siberia and North America – the same regions with the largest biomass burning emissions.

The assumed size distribution of fresh emissions also impacts the simulated percent increase in N80 due to biomass burning (Figure 3.5). A larger emission median diameter produces fewer particles initially, leading to a decreased rate of coagulation and thus fewer particles are lost by coagulation. Panels a and b of Figure 3.5 show that simulations with the increased emitted median diameter of 150 nm (*D150_noSubCoag* and *D150_SubCoag*, respectively) result in a smaller relative increase in N80 in regions with biomass burning emissions than simulations with the original emitted median diameter of 100 nm (*noSubCoag* and *SubCoag*, panels c and d). This smaller increase in N80 with increasing emitted median diameter is due to roughly 3.4 times fewer particles being emitted when the median diameter is increased by 50% because the same volume must be distributed to larger (spherical) particles. Without sub-grid coagulation (Figure 3.5, panel a), this increase in emission diameter leads to a decrease in the biomass burning contribution to N80 in biomass burning regions (particularly in the Amazon). This decreased biomass burning contribution to N80 leads to a reduced global-, annual-average percent increase in N80 due to biomass burning from 14.5% with an emitted median diameter of 100 nm to 4.8% with an emitted median diameter of 150 nm. Including sub-grid coagulation dampens the sensitivity of the biomass burning contribution to N80 to the initial emission median diameter (sub-grid coagulation has less of an effect when emissions are larger). The same dampening of changes due to sub-grid coagulation can be seen for FINN in Figure 3.6.

Figure 3.5, panels e and f show the increase in N80 due to biomass burning when the emitted modal width is reduced to 1.6 (*s1.6_noSubCoag* and *s1.6_SubCoag*, respectively). This smaller modal width leads to a higher percent increase in N80 because the median diameter is above 80 nm (a higher fraction of the fresh biomass burning particles are larger than 80 nm). Without sub-grid coagulation, this decrease in modal width leads to an increase in the globally, annually averaged percent increase in N80 due to biomass burning from 14.5% with an emitted modal width of 2 to 43.0% with an emitted modal width of 1.6. Similar to what was shown with emitted median diameter in Figure 3.5 panels a and b, including sub-grid coagulation results in a smaller change in the biomass burning contribution to N80 relative to the *noSubCoag* assumption because the higher number of particles increases the rate of coagulation, dampening the effect. With coagulation, the globally, annually averaged increase in N80 due to biomass burning is 9.2% when the emitted modal width is 2 and 15.2% when the emitted modal width is 1.6. Similar responses to changing the emitted modal width are seen for FINN emissions in Figure 3.6. Thus, sub-grid coagulation



Figure 3.5: Annual-average percent changes in N80 at the surface level due to the inclusion of GFED biomass burning emissions relative to the simulation without biomass burning (*noBB*). Panels (a), (c), and (e) have no sub-grid coagulation (*D150_noSubCoag*, *noSubCoag*, and *s1.6_noSubCoag*, respectively). Panels (b), (d), and (f) have sub-grid coagulation (*D150_SubCoag*, *SubCoag*, and *s1.6_SubCoag*, respectively). Panels (a) and (b) have an emitted median diameter of 150 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (c) and (d) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (e) and (f) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 1.6. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean percent increase in N80 due to biomass burning.



Figure 3.6: Annual-average percent changes in N80 at the surface level due to the inclusion of FINNv1 biomass burning emissions relative to the simulation without biomass burning (*noBB*). Panels (a), (c), and (e) have no sub-grid coagulation (*D150_noSubCoag_FINN*, *noSubCoag_FINN*, and *s1.6_noSubCoag_FINN*, respectively). Panels (b), (d), and (f) have sub-grid coagulation (*D150_SubCoag_FINN*, *SubCoag_FINN*, and *s1.6_SubCoag_FINN*, respectively). Panels (a) and (b) have an emitted median diameter of 150 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (c) and (d) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 1.6. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean percent increase in N80 due to biomass burning.

tends to dampen the sensitivity in N80 (CCN-sized particles) due to uncertainty in emission size distribution parameters in biomass burning plumes.

To further explore the regional effect of coagulation on ambient size distributions, Figure 3.7 shows the full ambient size distributions for all simulations with GFED emissions for two biomass burning regions. The June-July-August-mean size distributions over Alaska are shown in panels a and c, and the August-September-October-mean size distributions over the Amazon are shown in panels b and d. In these two regions, the simulated size distribution is very sensitive to the initial size distribution and whether or not there is sub-grid coagulation. Without biomass burning (*noBB*), Alaska has no nucleation-mode particles. When biomass burning emissions from GFED are included (*noSubCoag*), there is a nucleation mode (due to SO2 emitted by the fires). As shown in Figure 3.7, including sub-grid coagulation (*noSubCoag* to *SubCoag*, see Table 2.1) increases the peak diameter in the accumulation mode from 89 nm to 224 nm and decreases the modal width. The same can be seen for FINNv1 emissions in Figure 3.8.

Figure 3.7 panel a shows that in Alaska when the emitted median diameter is increased (*noSubCoag* to *D150_noSubCoag*), the ambient peak diameter in the accumulation mode increases from 89 nm to 141 nm, and the number of particles in the accumulation mode decreases. Increasing the emitted median diameter of the case with sub-grid coagulation (*SubCoag* to *D150_SubCoag*) also increases the ambient peak diameter, but this increase is smaller than the difference between the *noSubCoag* and *D150_noSubCoag* simulations. Panel b shows that similar results are seen for the Amazon.

Figure 3.7 panel c shows that in Alaska when the initial modal width is increased (*noSubCoag* to $s1.6_noSubCoag$), the number of particles in the accumulation mode increases because the mass emissions remain the same. When the initial modal width is decreased in the case with sub-grid coagulation (*SubCoag* to $s1.6_SubCoag$), the number of particles in the accumulation mode also increases, but this change is smaller than without sub-grid coagulation. Panel d shows similar results for the Amazon. Overall, sub-grid coagulation causes a loss in number at small diameters and a smaller increase in number at the larger diameters in the distribution. This leads



Figure 3.7: Predicted, grid-resolved surface-level aerosol size distributions with GFED biomass burning emissions over Alaska at 62° N, 140° W, averaged over the June, July, and August fire season ((a) and (c)) and the Amazon at 6° S, 60° E, averaged over the August, September, and October fire season ((b) and (d)). All panels show the size distributions for the *noBB*, *noSubCoag*, and *SubCoag* simulations in the dashed green, solid blue, and solid pink lines, respectively. The top panels ((a) and (b)) show the sensitivity to the emitted median diameter, and the bottom panels ((c) and (d)) show the sensitivity to the emitted modal width. Note the different y-axis scales.



Figure 3.8: Predicted grid-resolved aerosol size distributions with FINNv1 biomass burning emissions over Alaska at 62° N, 140° W, averaged over the June, July, and August fire season ((a) and (c)) and the Amazon at 6° S, 60° E, averaged over the August, September, and October fire season ((b) and (d)). All panels show the size distributions for the *noBB*, *noSubCoag_FINN*, and *SubCoag_FINN* simulations in the dashed green, solid blue, and solid pink lines, respectively. The top panels ((a) and (b)) show the sensitivity to the emitted median diameter, and the bottom panels ((c) and (d)) show the sensitivity to the emitted modal width. Note the different y-axis scales.

to an increase in median (and peak) diameter and a decrease in modal width in the ambient size distribution. Figure 3.8 shows that these effects of sub-grid coagulation are also present when FINNv1 emissions are used. When sub-grid coagulation is included, the simulated ambient size distribution is less sensitive to the choice of emitted size distribution.

3.3 Sensitivity of radiative effects

Figure 3.9 summarizes our radiative-effect findings with global, annual-average values for each simulation. Table 3.1 shows the globally, annually averaged biomass burning radiative effects for each simulation. Figure 3.10, Figure 3.12, Figure 3.11, and Figure 3.13 show our simulated direct radiative effect (DRE) due to biomass burning under assumptions of external mixing (Figure 3.10 and Figure 3.11) and internal mixing (Figure 3.12 and Figure 3.13), and with GFED emissions (Figure 3.10 and Figure 3.12) and FINN emissions (Figure 3.11 and Figure 3.13). The DRE due to biomass burning is sensitive to the initial size distribution, the assumed mixing state of BC, the biomass burning emission inventory, and whether or not there is sub-grid coagulation. As can be seen in Figure 3.10 and Figure 3.12, the DRE due to biomass burning is generally negative (a cooling tendency), but there are regions of slight (up to 660 mW m⁻² locally) positive DRE over bright surfaces, such as the ice sheets over Greenland and Antarctica, where the biomass burning smoke plume has a lower albedo than the surface. With no sub-grid coagulation, changing the initial median diameter (panels a and c) has little effect, regardless of assumed mixing state. With sub-grid coagulation, increasing emitted median diameter (panel d to b) increases the DRE for both mixing state assumptions. Regardless of sub-grid coagulation, decreasing the initial modal width (panel c to e) decreases the magnitude of the effect globally.

The reason for the greater cooling tendency in DRE with larger particle sizes (either through sub-grid coagulation or larger emissions) is due to the mass scattering and absorption efficiencies (the scattering and absorption cross sections per unit mass). For a refractive index generally representative of biomass burning smoke (1.53 - 0.1i; [36]), the diameter of peak mass scattering efficiency is about 400 nm, whereas the mass absorption efficiency is relatively constant across



Figure 3.9: Global-mean all-sky direct radiative effect due to biomass burning (DRE) and cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect due to biomass burning (AIE) for all sensitivity simulations with and without subgrid coagulation. The green bars represent the DRE averaged over all size-distribution, mixing-state sensitivity, and coagulation time sensitivity simulations. The blue bars represent the AIE averaged over all size-distribution and coagulation time sensitivity simulations. The left-hand bars represent simulations using GFED fire emissions and the right-hand bars represent simulations using FINNv1 fire emissions. The diamond, square, and triangle symbol shapes represent the globally averaged value for the different emitted size distributions, as indicated in the legend, with a coagulation time of 24 hours. The star symbol shape represents the globally averaged value for the *SubCoag_12h* case, which has an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 2, like the square symbol case, but with the time spent undergoing sub-grid coagulation reduced from 24 hours to 12 hours, run only with GFED fire emissions. The filled symbols for DRE represent cases with an external mixture and the open symbols represent cases with a core-shell mixture.



Figure 3.10: All-sky direct radiative effect (DRE) due to biomass burning aerosols using GFED emissions and the external-mixing assumption. Panels (a), (c), and (e) are without sub-grid coagulation ($D150_noSubCoag$, noSubCoag, and $s1.6_noSubCoag$, respectively). Panels (b), (d), and (f) are with sub-grid coagulation ($D150_SubCoag$, SubCoag, and $s1.6_SubCoag$, respectively). Panels (a) and (b) have an emitted median diameter of 150 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (c) and (d) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (e) and (f) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 1.6. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean DRE value [mW m⁻²].



Figure 3.11: All-sky direct radiative effect (DRE) due to biomass burning aerosols using FINNv1 emissions and using the external-mixing assumption. Panels (a), (c), and (e) are without sub-grid coagulation ($D150_noSubCoag_FINN$, $noSubCoag_FINN$, and $s1.6_noSubCoag_FINN$, respectively). Panels (b), (d), and (f) are with sub-grid coagulation($D150_SubCoag_FINN$, $SubCoag_FINN$, and $s1.6_SubCoag_FINN$, respectively). Panels (a) and (b) have an emitted median diameter of 150 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (c) and (d) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 1.6. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean DRE value [mW m⁻²].



Figure 3.12: All-sky direct radiative effect (DRE) due to biomass burning aerosols using GFED emissions and the internal, core-shell mixing assumption. Panels (a), (c), and (e) are without sub-grid coagulation (*D150_noSubCoag*, noSubCoag, and s1.6_noSubCoag, respectively). Panels (b), (d), and (f) are with sub-grid coagulation(*D150_SubCoag*, SubCoag, and s1.6_SubCoag, respectively). Panels (a) and (b) have an emitted median diameter of 150 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (c) and (d) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (e) and (f) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 1.6. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean DRE value [mW m⁻²].



Figure 3.13: All-sky direct radiative effect (DRE) due to biomass burning aerosols using FINNv1 emissions and using the core-shell mixing assumption. Panels (a), (c), and (e) are without sub-grid coagulation ($D150_noSubCoag_FINN$, $noSubCoag_FINN$, and $s1.6_noSubCoag_FINN$, respectively). Panels (b), (d), and (f) are with sub-grid coagulation($D150_SubCoag_FINN$, $SubCoag_FINN$, and $s1.6_SubCoag_FINN$, respectively). Panels (a) and (b) have an emitted median diameter of 150 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (c) and (d) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 1.6. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean DRE value [mW m⁻²].

submicron diameters [17]. In Janhäll et al. (2010), the average fresh plume has a mass median diameter of 272 nm [32]. In these biomass burning plumes, where the particles tend to have diameters smaller than the diameter of peak mass scattering efficiency, aging the biomass burning particles via coagulation increases the mass scattering efficiency as it increases the diameter of the particles. On the other hand, the mass absorption efficiency changes by little through coagulational aging. Hence, simulations with sub-grid coagulation or larger fresh biomass burning emissions have more-negative DRE values. Finally, decreasing the modal width concentrates the particles around the median diameter, away from the peak of mass scattering efficiency (and with little change to the mass absorption efficiency), decreasing the biomass burning DRE.

Assuming internally mixed BC with a core-shell morphology (Figure 3.12 and Figure 3.13) rather than a fully external mixture (Figure 3.10 and Figure 3.11) also decreases the magnitude of the cooling tendency of the DRE in the global mean, as a core-shell morphology increases absorption. Cases using GFED (Figure 3.10 and Figure 3.12) have a globally, annually averaged DRE that is of much greater magnitude than the cases using FINNv1 (Figure 3.11 and Figure 3.13) because GFED has a larger mass of biomass burning emissions.

Figure 3.14 and Figure 3.15 show the biomass burning cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect (AIE) for GFED and FINNv1, respectively. For all simulations, biomass burning leads to a negative AIE over and downwind of biomass burning regions, and a slight positive AIE (up to 850 mW m⁻²) in many remote regions (due to feedbacks in aerosol nucleation/growth described in Section 3.2 in reference to N10 and N80 changes). The strongest cooling is confined to areas where there is both an increase in aerosol number concentration and an environment susceptible to changes in cloud properties, such as areas where there is a low number concentration of CCN and abundant warm clouds. Comparing Figure 3.14 to Figure 3.5, the spatial distribution in AIE is roughly similar with the inverse changes in N80. The same can be said for FINNv1 by comparing Figure 3.15 and Figure 3.6. Decreasing the initial modal width, as seen in panels c to e and d to f in the four figures leads to a 131% increase on average in the biomass burning contribution to the globally, annually averaged N80 concentrations and therefore a 79% increase in the magnitude

of the globally, annually averaged AIE due to biomass burning. A larger initial median diameter, as seen when moving from panel c to a and d to b in the same four figures, leads to a 64% decrease in globally, annually averaged N80 concentrations and a 62% decrease in the magnitude of the globally, annually averaged AIE. Sub-grid coagulation similarly decreases N80 and therefore decreases the magnitude of the AIE (on average between the three cases) by 49% globally, annually averaged relative to the simulations without sub-grid coagulation. The choice of emissions inventory used has only a small effect, as can be seen in the difference between Figure 3.14 and Figure 3.15. Lower emissions from FINNv1 lead to less cooling, particularly in the Arctic, but also less warming in remote regions (e.g. the southern hemisphere). These two effects balance out the difference between the emission inventories. When sub-grid coagulation is used, the AIE is less sensitive to the assumed initial size distribution. This is because sub-grid coagulation acts as a negative feedback on changing the initial size distribution.

As introduced earlier, Figure 3.9 summarizes the global biomass burning DRE and AIE estimates from our suite of simulations. The DRE is generally larger in magnitude than the AIE and tends to increase in magnitude with sub-grid coagulation added due to a shift in diameter to a higher mass scattering efficiency. The estimated DRE varies depending on the size distribution, the mixing state assumed, and the mass of emissions. The magnitude of the AIE globally is smaller with sub-grid coagulation because coagulation reduces the number of particles, thereby reducing the number of CCN from biomass burning. With sub-grid coagulation, the range in AIE due to changes in initial size distribution is much smaller because the coagulation acts as a negative feedback on changes to the initial size distribution.



Figure 3.14: Cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect (AIE) due to biomass burning aerosols using GFED emissions. Panels (a), (c), and (e) are without sub-grid coagulation ($D150_noSubCoag$, noSubCoag, and $s1.6_noSubCoag$, respectively). Panels (b), (d), and (f) are with sub-grid coagulation ($D150_SubCoag$, SubCoag, and $s1.6_SubCoag$, respectively). Panels (a) and (b) have an emitted median diameter of 150 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (c) and (d) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 1.6. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean AIE value [mW m⁻²].



Figure 3.15: Cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect (AIE) due to biomass burning aerosols using FINNv1 emissions. Panels (a), (c), and (e) are without sub-grid coagulation ($D150_noSubCoag_FINN$, $noSub-Coag_FINN$, and $s1.6_noSubCoag_FINN$, respectively). Panels (b), (d), and (f) are with sub-grid coagulation($D150_SubCoag_FINN$, $SubCoag_FINN$, and $s1.6_SubCoag_FINN$, respectively). Panels (a) and (b) have an emitted median diameter of 150 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (c) and (d) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 2. Panels (e) and (f) have an emitted median diameter of 100 nm and an emitted modal width of 1.6. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean AIE value [mW m⁻²].

Chapter 4

Discussion

4.1 Limitations of this study

While we have shown that the results from this study capture the changes that occur when sub-grid coagulation is included in the model, there are limitations to our analysis:

- In this study, we did not compare our results to measured ambient size distributions in smokeimpacted regions. There are limited observations of long-term ambient aerosol size distributions in the regions where this study finds sub-grid coagulation to be impactful. The GoAmazon field campaign (Martin et al., 2016) fits our needs, but the measurement site was located near the city of Manaus, leading to heterogeneity at scales much smaller than the model can resolve [37, 38]. The impacts of the urban plume change the observations in ways that we cannot quantify and is beyond the scope of this study. Weigum et al. (2016) describes the challenges of comparing point measurements to coarse models [11]. As such, comparison between model and measurements is left for future work. Measurements directly of biomass burning plumes (e.g., from field campaigns) would also not be representative of the grid-scale mean size distributions represented by the model.
- In the current model set-up, it is assumed that smoke plumes do not overlap. Overlapping of smoke plumes would lead to a higher initial number concentration and therefore more sub-grid coagulation. The impact on N80 when the smoke plumes are allowed to completely overlap (i.e., all fires in the gridbox form one "superplume") is shown in Figure 4.1. Because sub-grid coagulation is enhanced, there is a reduction in the impact of biomass burning on N10 and N80 when smoke plumes overlap completely instead of not overlapping at all.
- This study assumes that smoke plumes are emitted within the boundary layer, as is done in GEOS-Chem. This allows the plume mixing depth to be the same as the boundary layer



Figure 4.1: Effect of biomass burning on surface-level N10 (a-c) and N80 (d-f) under three sub-grid coagulation conditions. Panels (a) and (d) show the $noSubCoag_FINN$ case (no sub-grid coagulation). Panels (b) and (e) show the $SubCoag_FINN$ case (with sub-grid coagulation as in the rest of the paper, where the smoke plumes are treated as without overlap). Panels (c) and (f) show a new case where all smoke plumes in the gridbox completely overlap and form a single \hat{a} AIJsuperplume \hat{a} AI upon emission into the sub-grid coagulation parameterization. All panels show the percent increase due to FINNv1 biomass burning emissions relative to the *noBB* simulation. The number in the bottom right of each panel is the global mean percent increase due to biomass burning.

depth. Rémy et al, (2003) found that most plumes do fit this category, but further work may allow for emissions higher than the boundary layer, and in these cases, the mixing depth may be more challenging to quantify [34, 39].

- The emitted size distribution from fires varies depending on fire characteristics [32, 40], while in this study the same emitted size distribution is applied to all fires. Ideally, fresh size distributions would be linked to fire characteristics in future emission inventories.
- It is assumed in this study that all fires in the same gridbox on a given day are the same size. Fire size can have an impact on sub-grid coagulation [4]. If fires vary greatly in size within a gridbox (at a specific time), larger fires may have more sub-grid coagulation effects than small fires in the same gridbox. Figure 2.2 shows that using the parameterization on each individual fire, accounting for size, and then averaging the results gives approximately the same downwind median diameter and modal width as using the parameterization on the gridded fires with the assumption that all fires in the same gridbox are the same size.
- In this study it is assumed, as described in the methods, that the smoke plume spends 24 hours aging. While this timescale is potentially variable for each fire, the exponent on this variable in the parameterization equations (Eqs. (2.1) and (2.2)) is significantly below 1 and so the effect is dampened. We performed a sensitivity study with an aging time of 12 hours (*SubCoag_12h*), which is otherwise the same as the *SubCoag* case. Figure 4.2 shows that the annual-average change in N80 due to biomass burning emissions depends more on whether there is sub-grid coagulation included than on whether the sub-grid coagulation timescale is 12 hours or 24 hours. Similar results are shown in Figure 4.3 for the direct radiative effect due to biomass burning (DRE) using an external mixing assumption, in Figure 4.4 for the DRE using an internal, core-shell mixing assumption, and in Figure 4.5 for the cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect due to biomass burning. Figure 3.9 shows that the global, annual-average biomass burning aerosol radiative effects for the *SubCoag_12h* case are nearly the same as for the *SubCoag* case.



Figure 4.2: Annual-average percent changes in N80 at the surface level due to the inclusion of GFED biomass burning emissions relative to the simulation without biomass burning (*noBB*). On the left, there is no sub-grid coagulation (*noSubCoag*). In the middle, the sub-grid coagulation time is 12 hours (*SubCoag_12h*). On the right, the sub-grid coagulation time is 24 hours (*SubCoag*). The number in the bottom right corner of each panel is the global mean percent increase in N80 due to biomass burning.



Figure 4.3: All-sky direct radiative effect due to biomass burning aerosols using GFED emissions and the external-mixing assumption. On the left, there is no sub-grid coagulation (*noSubCoag*). In the middle, the sub-grid coagulation time is 12 hours (*SubCoag_12h*). On the right, the sub-grid coagulation time is 24 hours (*SubCoag*). The number in the bottom right corner of each panel is the global mean value [mW m⁻²].



Figure 4.4: All-sky direct radiative effect due to biomass burning aerosols using GFED emissions and the internal, core-shell mixing assumption. On the left, there is no sub-grid coagulation (*noSubCoag*). In the middle, the sub-grid coagulation time is 12 hours (*SubCoag_12h*). On the right, the sub-grid coagulation time is 24 hours (*SubCoag*). The number in the bottom right corner of each panel is the global mean value $[mW m^{-2}]$.



Figure 4.5: Cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect due to biomass burning aerosols using GFED emissions. On the left, there is no sub-grid coagulation (*noSubCoag*). In the middle, the sub-grid coagulation time is 12 hours (*SubCoag_12h*). On the right, the sub-grid coagulation time is 24 hours (*SubCoag_12h*). The number in the bottom right corner of each panel is the global mean value [mW m⁻²].

- This study only investigated the effects of including sub-grid coagulation, but other subgrid processes are occuring in biomass burning plumes. Organic aerosol in biomass burning plumes can evaporate and can be formed through condensation. The rates of this evaporation and condensation may have dependencies on fire size and dilution, similar to coagulation here, and may be more important than coagulation in small plumes [4, 20]. These processes are not considered in this model.
- Assumptions about mixing state were made when calculating the DRE and AIE due to lack of explicit simulation of the mixing state and limited knowledge of the mixing state of biomass burning emissions.
- When calculating the aerosol radiative effects, monthly mean aerosol concentrations and meteorological inputs were used to increase computation efficiency.

4.2 Conclusions

In this paper, we use a global chemical-transport model with aerosol microphysics and a parameterization of sub-grid biomass burning coagulation to estimate the impacts of sub-grid coagulation on the ambient size distribution and aerosol radiative effects. Including sub-grid coagulation (moving from the *noSubCoag* simulation to the *SubCoag* simulation in Table 2.1) decreases the magnitude of the biomass burning global, annual-mean cloud-albedo aerosol indirect effect (AIE) by 43% from -76 mW m⁻² to -43 mW m⁻², as it reduces the number concentration of CCN-sized particles from biomass burning emissions. Sub-grid coagulation increases the biomass burning global-, annual-mean direct radiative effect (DRE) by 4% from -206 mW m⁻² to -214 mW m⁻² (on average between the external mixing assumption and the internal, core-shell mixing assumption) due to an increase in mass scattering efficiency. However, different assumptions in initial size distribution, emission inventory, and particle morphology can also have a large effect on the magnitude of the AIE and DRE and the effect of coagulation.

We test a series of sensitivities to account for uncertainties in the effect of sub-grid coagulation on particle size distributions in the smoke plume: varying the initial median diameter and modal width, using two biomass burning emissions inventories (GFED and FINNv1), varying the time spent undergoing sub-grid coagulation, and testing the DRE under two mixing states (external and internal core-shell). Testing these sensitivities, global, annual-average AIE due to biomass burning ranges from -29 to -155 mW m⁻² without sub-grid coagulation. With sub-grid coagulation, the absolute magnitude and range of the globally, annually averaged AIE due to biomass burning reduces such that it ranges from -16 to -66 mW m⁻². This range is reduced due to sub-grid coagulation homogenizing the number of particles generated by biomass burning. Emissions with a smaller emitted median diameter have a greater number concentration, all else being equal, which leads to more coagulation, reducing number concentration and increasing the median diameter. Emissions with a larger modal width have an increased rate of coagulation, which reduces the modal width. Through this homogenizing effect of sub-grid coagulation, changes to the emitted size distribution have less effect on the final size distribution when sub-grid coagulation is included than they would without sub-grid coagulation. Regardless of initial size distribution or emission inventory, the inclusion of sub-grid coagulation decreases the global AIE magnitude.

The DRE due to biomass burning ranges from -145 to -224 mW m⁻² without sub-grid coagulation and from -177 to -253 mW m⁻² with sub-grid coagulation. This range of values comes from difference in the size distribution of the particles, the mass of emissions between the two inventories, and the assumed mixing state. Most of the uncertainty in DRE is due to the emission inventory selection. GFED generally has 95% more cooling (averaged between all sensitivity cases) due to annually, globally averaged DRE than FINN. This difference in DRE is because GFED has higher mass emissions, which increases DRE magnitude, and a higher OA to BC ratio, which increases cooling. Regardless of these assumptions, we find that sub-grid coagulation increases the magnitude of the estimated DRE by moving the aerosol size distribution into sizes more efficient at scattering.

4.3 Future Work

Regarding the limitations of this study discussed in Section 4.1, we have several recommendations for future work. We did not compare our results to measured ambient size distributions in smoke-impacted regions in this work. Doing so would test our findings and our inclusion of a subgrid coagulation parameterization in the model. Drawing parallels between the modeled ambient aerosol size distribution and the long-term observations made in a fire impacted region of the Amazon is made difficult by the heterogeneous nature of the region. The GoAmazon field campaign was located near an urban region which emits aerosol plumes not resolved in our model, muddling the effect of the smoke plume and its coagulation on the ambient size distribution. Future work with this data may include separating out days when the size distribution is impacted by an urban plume and/or a smoke plume. This may lead to a better ability to understand how adding sub-grid coagulation processes in a global model may or may not have made it more realistic. We will also be looking for other potential observation data sources to compare to the model results.

Further, it would be useful to determine a more accurate value for the mixing depth of smoke plumes. In this study, boundary layer height was used. As mentioned above, the majority of plumes are injected into the boundary layer, but many still are injected above the boundary layer. The plume can get especially high in the Amazon, in Africa, and in Southeast Asia: three areas with a lot of biomass burning activity. As such, allowing smoke to be emitted higher in the model, and using a mixing depth other than the planetary boundary layer height may change the radiative estimates found in this study. There are several estimates for injection height currently available using satellite products and parameterizations [34]. It may be valuable to test the sensitivity of our estimates to different injection depths from those products. A more realistic model of mixing depth of smoke plumes would be advantageous not only for sub-grid coagulation modeling, but for modeling of other sub-grid processes as well.

OA in biomass burning plumes undergoes evaporation and SOA formation, and these rates may also depend on fire size and dilution, similar to coagulation here [20]. Future work should focus on parameterizing these sub-grid OA effects similar to the coagulation parameterization of Sakamoto et al. (2016) by representing a single plume in a large eddy-simulation model with only the sub-grid effect that we are interested in modeling, and using the synthetic data from that model to create equations to represent the way that the sub-grid effect changes the aerosol size distribution [21]. Once those parameterization equations have been developed and tested, we can implement them into a global model similar to this work and test the effects of each on aerosol size distributions globally and on aerosol radiative effects.

Bibliography

- [1] S. E. Bauer, S. Menon, D. Koch, T. C. Bond, and K. Tsigaridis. A global modeling study on carbonaceous aerosol microphysical characteristics and radiative effects. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 10(15):7439–7456, August 2010.
- [2] T. C. Bond and R. W. Bergstrom. Light Absorption by Carbonaceous Particles: An Investigative Review. Aerosol Science and Technology, 40(1):27–67, January 2006.
- [3] T. C. Bond, S. J. Doherty, D. W. Fahey, P. M. Forster, T. Berntsen, B. J. DeAngelo, M. G. Flanner, S. Ghan, B. Kärcher, D. Koch, S. Kinne, Y. Kondo, P. K. Quinn, M. C. Sarofim, M. G. Schultz, M. Schulz, C. Venkataraman, H. Zhang, S. Zhang, N. Bellouin, S. K. Guttikunda, P. K. Hopke, M. Z. Jacobson, J. W. Kaiser, Z. Klimont, U. Lohmann, J. P. Schwarz, D. Shindell, T. Storelvmo, S. G. Warren, and C. S. Zender. Bounding the role of black carbon in the climate system: A scientific assessment. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 118(11):5380–5552, June 2013.
- [4] A. L. Hodshire, Q. Bian, E. Ramnarine, C. R. Lonsdale, M. J. Alvarado, S. M. Kreidenweis,
 S. H. Jathar, and J. R. Pierce. More than emissions and chemistry: Fire size, dilution, and
 background aerosol also greatly influence near-field biomass burning aerosol aging. *submitted to Journal of Geophysical Research*, 2018.
- [5] J. K. Kodros, C. E. Scott, S. C. Farina, Y. H. Lee, C. L'Orange, J. Volckens, and J. R. Pierce. Uncertainties in global aerosols and climate effects due to biofuel emissions. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 15(15):8577–8596, August 2015.
- [6] J. K. Kodros, R. Cucinotta, D. A. Ridley, C. Wiedinmyer, and J. R. Pierce. The aerosol radiative effects of uncontrolled combustion of domestic waste. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 16(11):6771– 6784, June 2016.

- [7] J. K. Kodros and J. R. Pierce. Important global and regional differences in aerosol cloudalbedo effect estimates between simulations with and without prognostic aerosol microphysics. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 122(7):4003–4018, April 2017.
- [8] J. R. Pierce, K. Chen, and P. J. Adams. Contribution of primary carbonaceous aerosol to cloud condensation nuclei: processes and uncertainties evaluated with a global aerosol microphysics model. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 7(20):5447–5466, October 2007.
- [9] J. S. Reid, T. F. Eck, S. A. Christopher, R. Koppmann, O. Dubovik, D. P. Eleuterio, B. N. Holben, E. A. Reid, and J. Zhang. A review of biomass burning emissions part III: intensive optical properties of biomass burning particles. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 5(3):827–849, March 2005.
- [10] S. Twomey. Pollution and the planetary albedo. Atmospheric Environment (1967), 8(12):1251–1256, December 1974.
- [11] N. Weigum, N. Schutgens, and P. Stier. Effect of aerosol subgrid variability on aerosol optical depth and cloud condensation nuclei: implications for global aerosol modelling. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 16(21):13619–13639, November 2016.
- [12] S. K. Akagi, R. J. Yokelson, C. Wiedinmyer, M. J. Alvarado, J. S. Reid, T. Karl, J. D. Crounse, and P. O. Wennberg. Emission factors for open and domestic biomass burning for use in atmospheric models. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 11(9):4039–4072, May 2011.
- [13] G. R. van der Werf, J. T. Randerson, L. Giglio, T. T. van Leeuwen, Y. Chen, B. M. Rogers, M. Mu, M. J. E. van Marle, D. C. Morton, G. J. Collatz, R. J. Yokelson, and P. S. Kasibhatla. Global fire emissions estimates during 1997âĂŞ2016. *Earth System Science Data*, 9(2):697–720, September 2017.
- [14] C. Wiedinmyer, S. K. Akagi, R. J. Yokelson, L. K. Emmons, J. A. Al-Saadi, J. J. Orlando, and A. J. Soja. The Fire INventory from NCAR (FINN): a high resolution global model to estimate the emissions from open burning. *Geosci. Model Dev.*, 4(3):625–641, July 2011.

- [15] H. Rodhe, C. Persson, and O. Åkesson. An investigation into regional transport of soot and sulfate aerosols. *Atmospheric Environment* (1967), 6(9):675–693, September 1972.
- [16] M. Val Martin, R. E. Honrath, R. C. Owen, G. Pfister, P. Fialho, and F. Barata. Significant enhancements of nitrogen oxides, black carbon, and ozone in the North Atlantic lower free troposphere resulting from North American boreal wildfires. *Journal of Geophysical Research (Atmospheres)*, 111, December 2006.
- [17] J. H. Seinfeld and S. N. Pandis. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics: From Air Pollution to Climate Change. Wiley, 3 edition, 2016.
- [18] M. J. Alvarado, C. R. Lonsdale, H. L. Macintyre, H. Bian, M. Chin, D. A. Ridley, C. L. Heald, K. L. Thornhill, B. E. Anderson, M. J. Cubison, J. L. Jimenez, Y. Kondo, L. K. Sahu, J. E. Dibb, and C. Wang. Evaluating model parameterizations of submicron aerosol scattering and absorption with in situ data from ARCTAS 2008. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 16(14):9435–9455, July 2016.
- [19] M. D. Petters and S. M. Kreidenweis. A single parameter representation of hygroscopic growth and cloud condensation nucleus activity. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 7(8):1961–1971, April 2007.
- [20] Q. Bian, S. H. Jathar, J. K. Kodros, K. C. Barsanti, L. E. Hatch, A. A. May, S. M. Kreidenweis, and J. R. Pierce. Secondary organic aerosol formation in biomass-burning plumes: theoretical analysis of lab studies and ambient plumes. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 17(8):5459– 5475, April 2017.
- [21] K. M. Sakamoto, J. R. Laing, R. G. Stevens, D. A. Jaffe, and J. R. Pierce. The evolution of biomass-burning aerosol size distributions due to coagulation: dependence on fire and meteorological details and parameterization. *Atmos. Chem. Phys.*, 16(12):7709–7724, June 2016.

- [22] G. S. Stuart, R. G. Stevens, A.-I. Partanen, A. K. L. Jenkins, H. Korhonen, P. M. Forster, D. V. Spracklen, and J. R. Pierce. Reduced efficacy of marine cloud brightening geoengineering due to in-plume aerosol coagulation: parameterization and global implications. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 13(20):10385–10396, October 2013.
- [23] P. J. Adams and J. H. Seinfeld. Predicting global aerosol size distributions in general circulation models. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 107(D19):AAC 4–1–AAC 4–23, October 2002.
- [24] W. Trivitayanurak, P. J. Adams, D. V. Spracklen, and K. S. Carslaw. Tropospheric aerosol microphysics simulation with assimilated meteorology: model description and intermodel comparison. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 8(12):3149–3168, June 2008.
- [25] S. Philip, R. V. Martin, J. R. Pierce, J. L. Jimenez, Q. Zhang, M. R. Canagaratna, D. V. Spracklen, C. R. Nowlan, L. N. Lamsal, M. J. Cooper, and N. A. Krotkov. Spatially and seasonally resolved estimate of the ratio of organic mass to organic carbon. *ATMOS ENVIRON.*, 87:34–40, April 2014.
- [26] Y. H. Lee and P. J. Adams. A Fast and Efficient Version of the TwO-Moment Aerosol Sectional (TOMAS) Global Aerosol Microphysics Model. *Aerosol Science and Technology*, 46(6):678–689, June 2012.
- [27] L. A. Lee, K. J. Pringle, C. L. Reddington, G. W. Mann, P. Stier, D. V. Spracklen, J. R. Pierce, and K. S. Carslaw. The magnitude and causes of uncertainty in global model simulations of cloud condensation nuclei. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 13(17):8879–8914, September 2013.
- [28] C. L. Reddington, D. V. Spracklen, P. Artaxo, D. A. Ridley, L. V. Rizzo, and A. Arana. Analysis of particulate emissions from tropical biomass burning using a global aerosol model and long-term surface observations. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 16(17):11083– 11106, September 2016.

- [29] R. Huang, X. Zhang, D. Chan, S. Kondragunta, A. G. Russell, and M. T. Odman. Burned Area Comparisons Between Prescribed Burning Permits in Southeastern United States and Two Satellite-Derived Products. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 123(9):4746– 4757, May 2018.
- [30] Y. Shi and T. Matsunaga. Temporal comparison of global inventories of CO2 emissions from biomass burning during 2002–2011 derived from remotely sensed data. *Environ Sci Pollut Res*, 24(20):16905–16916, July 2017.
- [31] Y. Shi, T. Matsunaga, M. Saito, Y. Yamaguchi, and X. Chen. Comparison of global inventories of CO2 emissions from biomass burning during 2002–2011 derived from multiple satellite products. *Environ. Pollut.*, 206:479–487, November 2015.
- [32] S. Janhäll, M. O. Andreae, and U. Pöschl. Biomass burning aerosol emissions from vegetation fires: particle number and mass emission factors and size distributions. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 10(3):1427–1439, February 2010.
- [33] R. Paugam, M. Wooster, S. Freitas, and M. Val Martin. A review of approaches to estimate wildfire plume injection height within large-scale atmospheric chemical transport models. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 16(2):907–925, January 2016.
- [34] S. Rémy, A. Veira, R. Paugam, M. Sofiev, J. W. Kaiser, F. Marenco, S. P. Burton, A. Benedetti,
 R. J. Engelen, R. Ferrare, and J. W. Hair. Two global data sets of daily fire emission injection heights since 2003. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 17(4):2921–2942, February 2017.
- [35] M. Z. Jacobson. Strong radiative heating due to the mixing state of black carbon in atmospheric aerosols. *Nature*, 409(6821):695–697, February 2001.
- [36] L. A. Mack, E. J. T. Levin, S. M. Kreidenweis, D. Obrist, H. Moosmüller, K. A. Lewis, W. P. Arnott, G. R. McMeeking, A. P. Sullivan, C. E. Wold, W.-M. Hao, J. L. Collett Jr., and W. C. Malm. Optical closure experiments for biomass smoke aerosols. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 10(18):9017–9026, September 2010.

- [37] S. T. Martin, P. Artaxo, L. a. T. Machado, A. O. Manzi, R. a. F. Souza, C. Schumacher, J. Wang, M. O. Andreae, H. M. J. Barbosa, J. Fan, G. Fisch, A. H. Goldstein, A. Guenther, J. L. Jimenez, U. Pöschl, M. A. Silva Dias, J. N. Smith, and M. Wendisch. Introduction: Observations and Modeling of the Green Ocean Amazon (GoAmazon2014/5). *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 16(8):4785–4797, April 2016.
- [38] Atmospheric Radiation Measurement Climate Research Facility U.S. Department of Energy Office of Science. Annual Report (Report No. DOE/SC-ARM-14-033), 2014.
- [39] L. Zhu, M. Val Martin, L. V. Gatti, R. Kahn, A. Hecobian, and E. V. Fischer. Development and implementation of a new biomass burning emissions injection height scheme (BBEIH v1.0) for the GEOS-Chem model (v9-01-01). *Geoscientific Model Development*, 11(10):4103–4116, October in review, 2018.
- [40] E. J. T. Levin, G. R. McMeeking, C. M. Carrico, L. E. Mack, S. M. Kreidenweis, C. E. Wold, H. Moosmüller, W. P. Arnott, W. M. Hao, J. L. Collett, and W. C. Malm. Biomass burning smoke aerosol properties measured during Fire Laboratory at Missoula Experiments (FLAME). *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 115(D18), September 2010.